IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) Supreme Court No. 18-1623
)
 ANTHONY FRANK ERNST,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
HONORABLE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

BRADLEY M. BENDER
Assistant Appellate Defender
bbender@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The jury found Ernst guilty of the lesser included offense of Attempted Burglary. During the trial, Ernst moved for a judgment of acquittal alleging there was insufficient evidence to support the charge. Following the trial, Ernst filed a motion for new trial which alleged that the verdict was contrary to weight of the evidence or law. Did the court err in denying Ernst's motion for judgment of acquittal and overruling Ernst's motion for new trial?

Authorities

Preservation of Error.

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Fountain, 786 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

Standard of Review and General Principles for Sufficiency of the Evidence.

State v. Bash, 670 N.W.2d 135 (Iowa 2003)

Standard of Review and General Principles for Weight of the Evidence.

State v. Nichter, 720 N.W.2d 547 (Iowa 2006)

Ennenga v. State, 812 N.W.2d 696 (Iowa 2012)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(6)

State v. Ellis, 578 N.W.2d 655 (Iowa 1998)

The Evidence was Insufficient and Contrary to the Weight of the Evidence to Support the Jury's Verdict.

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 1976)

In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)

Iowa Code § 713.2

Iowa Code § 713.6B(1)

State v. Spies, 672 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2003)

Fryer v. State, 325 N.W.2d 400 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Roby, 194 Iowa 1032, 188 N.W. 709 (1922)

State v. Erving, 346 N.W.2d 833 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Reed, 875 N.W.2d 693 (Iowa 2016)

State v. DeRaad, 164 N.W.2d 108 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Jellema, 206 N.W.2d 679 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Sellers, 215 N.W.2d 231 (Iowa 1974)

State v. Schrier, 300 N.W.2d 305 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Schurman, 205 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Adney, 639 N.W.2d 246 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001)

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I § 10

II. The right to assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution is the right to “effective” assistance of counsel. Ernst alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony regarding Ernst’s cell phone location and records from August 21, 2017. Was trial counsel ineffective?

Authorities

Preservation of Error.

State v. Rodriguez, 804 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2011)

Standard of Review.

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012)

Applicable Law on Ineffective Assistance of Counsel.

State v. Fountain, 786 N.W.2d. 260 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ross, 845 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa 2014)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164 (Iowa 2011)

King v. State, 797 N.W.2d 565, 574 (Iowa 2011)

Everett v. State, 789 N.W.2d 151 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Allison, 576 N.W.2d 371 (Iowa 1998)

Trial Counsel was Ineffective for Failing to Object to William Grant's Testimony Regarding Ernst's Cell Phone Location.

Ranes v. Adams Labs., Inc., 778 N.W.2d 677 (Iowa 2010)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.702

Johnson v. Knoxville Cmty. Sch. Dist., 570 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 1997)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.104(a)

State v. Garcia, No. 17-0111, 2018 WL 3913668 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2018)

State v. Benson, No. 15-1895, 2016 WL 7393891 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2016)

State v. Rendon, No. 15-1832, 2016 WL 6270092 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 26, 2016)

Alexandra Wells, Comment, *Ping! The Admissibility of Cellular Records to Track Criminal Defendants*, 33 St. Louis U. Pub. L. Rev. 487 (2014)

James Beck, Christopher Magana & Edward J. Imwinkelried, *The Use of Global Positioning (GPS) and Cell Tower Evidence to Establish a Person's Location—Part II*, 49 No. 3 Crim. Law Bulletin ART 8 (Summer 2013)

Aaron Blank, Article, *The Limitations and Admissibility of Using Historical Cellular Site Data to Track the Location of a Cellular Phone*, 18 Rich. J.L. & Tech. 3 (Fall 2011)

United States v. Hill, 818 F.3d 289 (7th Cir. 2016)

In re Application of U.S. for an Order for Prospective Cell Site Location Info. on a Certain Cellular Tel., 460 F.Supp.2d 448 (S.D.N.Y. 2006)

State v. Earls, 70 A.3d 630 (N.J. 2013)

Adam Koppel, *Warranting A Warrant: Fourth Amendment Concerns Raised by Law Enforcement's Warrantless Use of GPS and Cellular Phone Tracking*, 64 U. Miami L. Rev. 1061 (2010)

Nextel Commc'ns of the Mid-Atl., Inc. v. Town of Brookline, Mass., 520 F.Supp.2d 238 (D. Mass. 2007)

Ameritech Mobile Commc'ns, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 571 N.W.2d 924 (Wisc. Ct. App. 1997)

In re Application of U.S. for an Order for Disclosure of Telecomms. Records & Authorizing the Use of a Pen Register & Trap & Trace, 405 F.Supp.2d 435 (S.D.N.Y. 2005)

Nextel Commc'ns of Mid-Atl., Inc. v. Town of Wayland Mass., 231 F.Supp.2d 396 (D. Mass. 2002)

United States v. Myles, No. 5:15-CR-172-F-2, 2016 WL 1695076 (E.D.N.C. Apr. 26, 2016)

United States v. Jones, 908 F.Supp.2d 203 (D.D.C. 2012)

United States v. Johnson, No. 14-CR-00412-TEH, 2015 WL 5012949 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 24, 2015)

In re U.S. for Historical Cell Site Data, 724 F.3d 600 (5th Cir. 2013)

State v. Simmons, 143 A.3d 819 (Me. 2016)

Collins v. State, 172 So.3d 724 (Miss. 2015)

State v. Johnson, 797 S.E.2d 557 (W. Va. 2017)

State v. Patton, 419 S.W.3d 125 (Mo. Ct. App. 2013)

State v. Edwards, 156 A.3d 506 (Conn. 2017)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Westeen, 591 N.W.2d 203 (Iowa 1999)

Trial Counsel was Ineffective for Failing to Object to the Cell Phone Records Exhibit.

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

State v. Newell, 710 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2006)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c)

State v. Lain, 246 N.W.2d 238 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Reynolds, 746 N.W.2d 837 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801 (Iowa 2017)

Preservation of the Ineffective Assistance Claims.

Iowa Code § 814.7

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because issues raised involves a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa and furthermore this case presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). The issue contained herein requires the Court to determine whether an expert witness is needed to inform a jury about a defendant's historical cell site data. As such, the issue is important questions of law that should be settled by the Supreme Court. This case presents a fundamental issue of broad public importance that is requiring ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. R. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case. Defendant-Appellant Anthony Frank Ernst appeals from the judgment, conviction, and sentence for Attempted Burglary in the Third Degree in violation of Iowa Code section 713.6B (2017) following a jury trial and a verdict of guilty in the Dubuque County District Court. The

Honorable Michael J. Shubatt presided over all relevant proceedings.

Course of Proceedings. On April 10, 2018, Ernst was charged by Trial Information with the offense of Burglary in the Third Degree, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 713.6A(1) (2017). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5-6). The State also alleged that Ernst was a habitual offender pursuant to Iowa Code section 902.8 (2017) for having been convicted twice of a felony. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5-6). Ernst pled not guilty to the charge and demanded a speedy trial. (Written Arraignment; Arraignment Order) (App. pp. 7-10).

On May 14, 2018, Ernst filed a Motion to Dismiss which alleged that there is no allegations in the Minutes of Testimony or discovery materials that alleges he entered an unoccupied or occupied structure as required for the burglary charge. (Motion to Dismiss) (App. pp. 11-12). On June 13, 2018, Ernst filed a Motion for Bill of Particulars which requested that the State file a more specific Trial Information with more specific information regarding Ernst's alleged entry which

would support the burglary charge. (Motion for Bill of Particulars) (App. pp. 13-14). The State resisted the Motion for Bill of Particulars. (Resistance to Motion for Bill of Particulars) (App. pp. 15-17).

A hearing on the Bill of Particulars was held on June 15, 2018. (6/15/18 Hrg. Tr. p. 1; 6/15/18 Order) (App. pp. 18-19). Prior to the start of the hearing, the State filed additional minutes of testimony. (6/15/18 Hrg. Tr. p. 7, Line 12 – p. 10, Line 12; 6/15/18 Order) (App. pp. 18-19). After reviewing the additional minutes of testimony, the court found that the minutes of testimony contain circumstantial evidence to support the charge and adequately put Ernst on notice of the evidence against him. (6/15/18 Order) (App. pp. 18-19). As such, the court denied Ernst's motion. (6/15/18 Order) (App. pp. 18-19).

On June 29, 2018, Ernst filed a Motion in Limine which sought to exclude the following evidence from the jury trial: (1) any reference to Ernst's prior bad acts; (2) any reference to Ernst's prior arrests, convictions, or any allegations involving prior criminal activity; and (3) any reference to Jason

Wulfekuhle, Emily Wulfekuhle, or any person or entity as “victim”. (Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 20-21).

Jury trial commenced on July 10, 2018. (Vol. I Tr. p. 1; Entry of Jury Verdict) (App. pp. 24-25). Prior to jury selection, the district court entertained Ernst’s Motion in Limine. (Vol. I Tr. p. 4, Line 23 – p. 14, Line 8; Order re: Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 22-23). Following arguments from the parties, the court granted Ernst’s motion except that court will allow the State to present evidence that Emily Wulfekuhle was Ernst’s parole officer at the time of the alleged offense and general information about what that relationship involved. (Vol. I Tr. p. 4, Line 23 – p. 14, Line 8; Order re: Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 22-23). The case proceeded to trial and the jury returned a verdict on the lesser included offense of Attempted Burglary in the Third Degree. (Vol. IV Tr. p. 50, Line 1 – p. 54, Line 8; Entry of Jury Verdict) (App. pp. 24-25).

On August 17, 2018, Ernst filed post-trial motions. (Post-trial Motions) (App. pp. 28-29). Ernst first filed a Motion for New Trial which requested that the district court order a new trial since the verdict of guilty rendered by the jury was

contrary to the evidence. (Post-trial Motions) (App. pp. 28-29). Ernst also filed a Motion in Arrest of Judgment which alleged that the verdict was not supported by the evidence and as a matter of law no legal judgment can be pronounced against Ernst. (Post-trial Motions) (App. pp. 28-29). The State resisted the motions. (Resistance to Post-trial Motions) (App. pp. 30-34). A hearing on the Ernst's post-trial motions was held on August 27, 2018. (8/27/18 Hrg. Tr. p. 1; 8/27/18 Order) (App. pp. 35-36). Following arguments from the parties, the court denied Ernst's post-trial motions. (8/27/18 Hrg. Tr. p. 2, Line 1 – p. 8, Line 2; 8/27/18 Order) (App. pp. 35-36).

A sentencing hearing commenced on September 10, 2018. (Sent. Tr. p. 1; Judgment) (App. pp. 37-39). On the charge of Attempted Burglary in the Third Degree, the court ordered Ernst to serve an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed two years and pay a fine of \$625 along with statutory surcharges, court costs and restitution. (Sent. Tr. p. 13, Line 25 – p. 18, Line 13; Judgment) (App. pp. 37-39). The court ordered the sentence to be served consecutive to any

sentence imposed in Ernst's pending parole matters. (Sent. Tr. p. 13, Line 25 – p. 18, Line 13; Judgment) (App. pp. 37-39). The court also ordered Ernst to have no contact with the victim for a period of five years. (Sent. Tr. p. 13, Line 25 – p. 18, Line 13; Judgment) (App. pp. 37-39).

Ernst filed a Notice of Appeal on September 18, 2018. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 40).

Background Facts. Emily Wulfekuhle testified that she lives with her husband, Jason Wulfekuhle, and two young daughters at a rural residence in Cascade, Iowa. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). She stated that she lives on a dead end road with only a few houses along with one business and a farm on the road. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). She stated that there is little vehicle traffic on her road. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). Emily Wulfekuhle testified that she works for the Department of Corrections as a probation and parole officer. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24).

Emily Wulfekuhle testified that on August 21, 2017, she left for work between 6:30 a.m. and 6:45 a.m., and she arrived

home around 6:30 p.m. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24). She stated that when she arrived home, her husband stated that their residence was broken into. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). She stated that when she left for work, the doors and windows to the garage were locked and she did not believe the door had any damage. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). Emily Wulfekuhle testified that she observed the entry door to the garage and she noticed the weather stripping near the doorknob and the bottom of the door was damaged. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). She also stated that no one had permission to be in the garage on August 21, 2017. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). She admitted that she did not call the police at that time and it was not until a few hours later that she called the Iowa State Patrol to report the incident. (Vol. I Tr. p. 144, Line 5 – p. 156, Line 4). Emily Wulfekuhle testified that she was currently supervising Ernst on his parole since October 2016. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24). She stated that she last met with Ernst two weeks prior to August 21, 2017. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24).

Emily Wulfekuhle testified that Ernst was currently working in August 2017 with Decker Concrete in Dyersville, Iowa. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24). She stated that Ernst was not working on August 21, 2017 given that he had a child support hearing that he had to attend on that day. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24). Furthermore, Mike Decker is the owner of Decker Concrete in Dyersville, Iowa. (Vol. I Tr. p. 177, Line 6 – p. 180, Line 8). He stated that Ernst was an employee of his company in August 2017. (Vol. I Tr. p. 177, Line 6 – p. 180, Line 8). He stated that on August 21, 2017, he was contacted by Ernst via a text message at 8:17 a.m. which informed him that Ernst was not able to work that day because he had a court hearing. (Vol. I Tr. p. 177, Line 6 – p. 180, Line 8). Decker also testified that Jason Wulfekuhle works for a company that he does see from time to time at his various work sites. (Vol. I Tr. p. 177, Line 6 – p. 180, Line 8).

Jason Wulfekuhle testified that on August 21, 2017, he left for work at 5:30 a.m. and returned home after picking up their two daughters at 4:30 p.m. (Vol. I Tr. p. 169, Line 8 – p. 173, Line 25). He stated that when he arrived home, he

noticed the entry door was slightly ajar by a half inch to one inch. (Vol. I Tr. p. 169, Line 8 – p. 173, Line 25). He stated that it appeared the door was pried open with a pry bar and the doorknob was still locked. (Vol. I Tr. p. 169, Line 8 – p. 173, Line 25). Jason Wulfekuhle testified that he went into the house to make sure no one was inside the residence and nobody was located. (Vol. I Tr. p. 169, Line 8 – p. 173, Line 25). He stated that there was nothing out of place in the residence. (Vol. I Tr. p. 169, Line 8 – p. 173, Line 25). He further stated that he gave no-one permission to be in the garage. (Vol. I Tr. p. 169, Line 8 – p. 173, Line 25).

William Grant, an investigator with Dubuque County Sherriff's office, testified that he was contacted by Emily Wulfekuhle on August 22, 2017 to the discussed the incident from the day before. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4). He stated that after talking with her, he went to the residence. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4). He stated that he observed damage to the entry door to the garage which appeared to be little pry marks near the doorknob and the bottom of the door. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4).

Grant also stated that he observed damage to the weather stripping on the door. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4). He stated that after photographing the entry door, he went to a nearby business to inquire if they had a surveillance video of the road. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4).

Grant testified that when he went to Wulfekuhle's residence, he did not go inside the residence. (Vol. III Tr. p. 31, Line 10 – p. 40, Line 16). He stated that he did not find any finger prints or footprints in the garage. (Vol. III Tr. p. 31, Line 10 – p. 40, Line 16). He also testified that he did not find anything out of place in the garage nor did he find any evidence of anybody going into the garage. (Vol. III Tr. p. 31, Line 10 – p. 40, Line 16).

Grant stated that he was provided the video from the nearby business and reviewed it to determine if there was any unusual traffic on the road. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4). He stated that the video showed very little traffic on the road that Wulfekuhle's residence is located on on August 21, 2017. (Vol. II Tr. p. 4, Line 7 – p. 16, Line 4). Grant testified that he observed a few tractors and trucks driving the

road on August 21, 2017 but those were accounted for as either traffic to the nearby business or the farm. (Vol. II Tr. p. 16, Line 5 – p. 30, Line 3). He stated that he did observe a white Crown Victoria vehicle which appeared to be a police model from the years 2006 to 2012 that was missing paint on the driver's side rear door and roof area. (Vol. II Tr. p. 16, Line 5 – p. 30, Line 3). Emily Wulfekuhle testified that Ernst was driving a white Crown Victoria vehicle in August 2017 that he purchased from a local police department. (Vol. I Tr. p. 156, Line 5 – p. 163, Line 24).

Grant stated that the surveillance video first showed the vehicle driving south on the road toward Wulfekuhle's residence at 10:31 a.m. and the vehicle returned driving north away from the residence at 10:43 a.m. (Vol. II Tr. p. 16, Line 5 – p. 30, Line 3). He stated that it appeared the vehicle was traveling very slowly. (Vol. II Tr. p. 16, Line 5 – p. 30, Line 3). He further testified that it appeared that the vehicle only had one person who appeared to be wearing a bright-colored shirt. (Vol. II Tr. p. 16, Line 5 – p. 30, Line 3; State's Exhibit #22) (Ex. App. p. 17). He stated that Ernst was wearing a bright

colored shirt on August 21, 2017. (Vol. II Tr. p. 16, Line 5 – p. 30, Line 3).

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