IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18–1623

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

ANTHONY FRANK ERNST, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

C.J. MAY III Dubuque County Attorney

BRIGIT M. BARNES & RY ALLEN MEYER Assistant Dubuque County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The evidence is sufficient to support conviction, and the weight of the evidence supports the verdict.

Preservation of Error

Ernst's motion for judgment of acquittal challenged the State's proof of the elements of identity, attempted entry, and specific intent. *See* TrialTr.V3 43:2–48:15. The trial court's ruling considered and rejected his motion on those grounds. *See* TrialTr.V3 48:16–54:18. That ruling preserved error to renew those claims on appeal. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Ernst raised a weight-of-the-evidence challenge in his motion for new trial. *See* Motion for New Trial (8/17/18); App. 28. The court considered and overruled that challenge. *See* PostTrialTr. (8/27/18) 6:18–7:22; Order (8/27/18); App. 35. That ruling preserved error for a weight-of-the-evidence claim. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 864.

Standard of Review

"Sufficiency of evidence claims are reviewed for a correction of errors at law." *See State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012).

The ruling denying the motion for new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d 547, 559 (Iowa 2006) (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 670 N.W.2d 199, 202 (Iowa 2003)).

Merits

The marshalling instruction that defined attempted burglary required the State to prove the following elements:

- 1. On or about the 21st day of August, 2017, the defendant attempted to enter a garage located at 1473 McCabe Lane in Cascade, Iowa.
- 2. The garage was an occupied structure as defined in Instruction No. 18.
- 3. The defendant did not have permission or authority to enter the garage.
- 4. The defendant did so with the specific intent to commit theft.

Jury Instr. 20; App. 26. "Where, as here, the jury was instructed without objection, the jury instruction becomes law of the case for the purposes of reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence." *State v. Banes*, 910 N.W.2d 634, 639–40 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018) (citing *State v. Canal*, 773 N.W.2d 528, 530 (Iowa 2009)).

A. Testimony that the Wulfekuhles had locked the garage door and found it open (but still locked), together with marks consistent with forced entry, were sufficient circumstantial evidence to show that someone attempted to enter the garage.

Ernst argues "the circumstantial evidence does not support a finding that the entry door to the garage was pried open." *See* Def's Br. at 41. Ernst is incorrect. The door was open *and still locked* when Jason returned, with marks indicating it had been pried open. *See*

TrialTr.V1 171:10–172:19; State's Ex. 3–4; ExApp. 4–5. Grant viewed the door and described the damage as consistent with forced entry. *See* TrialTr.V2 11:9–13:8; State's Ex. 11–12; ExApp. 7–8. Ernst offers alternative explanations, but the jury was not obligated to ignore the clear photographic evidence that the damage had been focused on the lip of the faceplate—the metal part of the frame that catches the latch and prevents the door from opening while locked. *See* State's Ex. 3; App. 4. This is clearly inconsistent with Ernst's speculation about "wind" or "an animal hitting the door"—and that damage could not have been inflicted unless the door was locked and opened by force, so there is no possibility that the Wulfekuhles "forgot to properly close the door when they left in the morning." *See* Def's Br. at 44.

Ernst asserts "[t]he most troubling for the State is that there is no eyewitness that saw any suspicious person on the Wulfekuhle's property on August 21, 2017." *See* Def's Br. at 41. This claim ignores the proof of Ernst's contemporaneous presence nearby. *See* TrialTr.V1 162:10–163:21; TrialTr.V2 34:19–36:22; State's Ex. 28; ExApp. 23. Moreover, "[f]or purposes of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, direct and circumstantial evidence are equally probative." *See State v. O'Connell*, 275 N.W.2d 197, 205 (Iowa 1979).

This circumstantial evidence is sufficient to support an inference that someone attempted to enter the garage—they pried the door open and broke it in the process, and it was still open when Jason returned later that day. See TrialTr.V1 153:16-156:4; TrialTr.V1 171:10-172:19; TrialTr.V2 11:9–13:8; State's Ex. 3–4; ExApp. 4–5. This is more than would be required under any approach to attempt. See, e.g., State v. Erving, 346 N.W.2d 833, 836 (Iowa 1984) (discussing Iowa approach to attempt offenses and explaining "[i]t was not necessary, of course, for defendant to actually enter the pharmacy in order to commit attempted burglary"); accord State v. Spies, 672 N.W.2d 792, 798 (Iowa 2003) (quoting *State v. Roby*, 194 N.W.2d 709, 714 (Iowa 1922)) (finding evidence was sufficient to show attempt when it established "the first or some subsequent step in a direct movement towards the commission of the offense after the preparations are made"). Ernst's argument cannot overcome Erving, which determined that removing a glass panel to open a route of entry into a pharmacy was sufficient to establish attempted burglary. See Erving, 346 N.W.2d at 834–36. A rational jury could infer that someone pried open that locked door, and that nobody would do that unless they were attempting to enter the garage. Therefore, Ernst's challenge on this element fails.

B. Evidence that placed Ernst in his vehicle on McCabe Lane on August 21, 2017, together with his demonstrably false denials, were sufficient circumstantial evidence to prove that Ernst was the person who broke into the Wulfekuhle garage.

Ernst attacks the sufficiency of the State's proof that he was the person who broke into the Wulfekuhle garage. First, Ernst attacks the State's proof of motive—but motive is not an element of the offense and is not absolutely necessary to prove identity, especially in cases involving an attempt to commit burglary/theft where the "motive" to acquire money or property would be ubiquitous. The strongest proof of identity is that Ernst is the only person who had the *opportunity* to commit this attempted burglary—he was contemporaneously present on McCabe Lane with no explanation for his presence there, and all other vehicles on McCabe Lane during that period were attributable to local residents and farm operations. See TrialTr.V1 147:24-148:12; TrialTr.V2 16:2–18:5; accord State v. Hall, 371 N.W.2d 187, 190 (Iowa 1985) (finding sufficient proof to establish defendant's identity as the burglar, in part because "[t]he automobile defendant used to go to the bank could be found by the jury to have been the same car that drove by the location of the burglary twice during the period when the burglary took place"). Though circumstantial, this case is strong.

Ernst argues the State could not prove that he was the person driving the vehicle that was seen as it passed Midwest Injections. See Def's Br. at 53–54. But his vehicle had extremely distinctive markings because of the missing paint—and even if most Crown Victoria cars had problems with peeling paint, the specific pattern of peeling paint at those exact locations on his vehicle made it overwhelmingly clear that the vehicle caught on camera at Midwest Injections was Ernst's. See TrialTr.V2 16:2–18:5; compare State's Ex. 14–15; ExApp. 10–11, with State's Ex. 28; ExApp. 23. Grant investigated a number of other Crown Victoria vehicles that were part of the production run that was known to have problems with peeling paint—none of those vehicles displayed the specific constellation of peeling marks that was present on Ernst's vehicle and on the vehicle that showed up on Midwest Injections security footage. See TrialTr.V2 30:4-36:22. And when Emily Wulfekuhle saw the still frame from the security footage, she knew it was Ernst's—and she was "[a] hundred percent sure." See TrialTr.V1 163:6-21. Ernst was driving that vehicle earlier that day, when he departed from Dubuque. See TrialTr.V3 4:25-10:5; State's Ex. 17–18; ExApp. 12–13. Ernst was driving that car in Dubuque, later that day. See TrialTr.V3 11:2-14:25; State's Ex. 30-35; ExApp. 24-29.

That circumstantial evidence provided strong support for an inference that Ernst was driving that vehicle when it was seen on McCabe Lane during those intervening hours, where Ernst—by his own admission—had no reason to be. *See* State's Ex. 39 at 1:50–2:30, at 6:55–7:15.

Ernst also argues that "the fact [that he] may have been near the residence is insufficient to support a finding of his guilt." See Def's Br. at 54–55. But Ernst cites to Schrier, which establishes that presence at the scene of the crime can be sufficient to establish guilt, when it is presented together with opportunity evidence that narrows down a perpetrator's identity to include the defendant, and with statements from the defendant that misrepresent or hide relevant facts. See State v. Schrier, 300 N.W.2d 305, 309 (Iowa 1981). Ernst forcefully denied being present in that area, even though he was seen driving that car both before and after it was seen on McCabe Lane. See State's Ex. 39, at 11:11–12:10. If Ernst had not committed this crime, he would have no reason to deny the obvious fact that his vehicle had been seen on McCabe Lane. State v. Cox, 500 N.W.2d 23, 25 (Iowa 1993) ("A false story told by a defendant to explain or deny a material fact against him is by itself an indication of guilt and the false story is relevant to show that the defendant fabricated evidence to aid his defense.");

accord State v. Crowley, 309 N.W.2d 523, 524 (Iowa Ct. App. 1981) ("[C]onsciousness of guilt may be inferred from attempted evasion, palpable falsehood, or suppression of the true facts by one suspected of crime."). And other than Ernst's car, all vehicle traffic was related to nearby residents and farm operations—which effectively narrows the solution set of possible perpetrators, such that Ernst's presence becomes extremely probative circumstantial evidence. See TrialTr.V1 147:24-148:12; TrialTr.V2 16:2-18:5; accord State v. Poyner, 306 N.W.2d 716, 718 (Iowa 1981) (finding sufficient evidence to convict the defendant of murder by stabbing, even when nobody witnessed the act, because "he alone had the opportunity to stab the victim"). Somebody broke into the garage, and Ernst was the only person who was observed in that area and had no legitimate reason to be there and he subsequently denied being present, even though his unique and distinctive vehicle was caught on surveillance footage during a very specific timeframe, when Ernst was otherwise unaccounted for. From that, a reasonable juror could infer that Ernst was the person who broke into the garage, beyond a reasonable doubt.

Ernst argues that "other actual evidence contradicts these inferences that it was Ernst who committed this attempted burglary,"

in reference to testimony from Kim Kuntz and Pamela Kuntz. See Def's Br. at 50-53. But a sufficiency challenge is reviewed with the evidence taken in the light most favorable to the verdict—and jurors could reject both defense witnesses' testimony in its entirety. See, e.g., State v. Garr, 461 N.W.2d 171, 174 (Iowa 1990) ("The jury is free to believe or disbelieve the testimony of the witnesses as it sees fit."). And their testimony would naturally be viewed with suspicion, given Ernst's vehement denial that he knew anybody who lived in that area. See State's Ex. 39, at 8:53–9:54. Pamela Kuntz's timeline about the time she spent with Ernst did not match the camera footage showing him driving around Dubuque and embarking/disembarking at his residence, by himself. See TrialTr.V3 60:16-64:6; accord TrialTr.V3 13:1–14:25; State's Ex. 30–31; ExApp. 25–26. Kim Kuntz's testimony was suspect because she had no plausible explanation for why she would decide to conceal exculpatory information from Grant—she knew that Grant was investigating Ernst's involvement in a burglary, and she denied seeing him during the period Grant was asking about. See TrialTr.V3 73:2-79:16; accord TrialTr.V3 25:15-27:19. Even in a weight-of-the-evidence analysis, Ernst cannot show any deficiency in the evidence showing that he must have been the would-be burglar.

C. The fact of forced entry into the garage is, itself, sufficient circumstantial evidence to support an inference of specific intent to commit a theft.

The last element that Ernst challenges is the specific intent to commit a theft. "[F]ailure to effect a completed breaking and entry will not negate the jury's ability to find an unlawful intent." *See Erving*, 346 N.W.2d at 836 (citing *State v. Morelock*, 164 N.W.2d 819, 822 (Iowa 1969)); *State v. Allnutt*, 156 N.W.2d 266, 271 (Iowa 1968); *accord State v. Rockingham*, No. 15–0978, 2016 WL 6652350, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016) ("The intent to commit theft is not negated simply because nothing was stolen."). The jury can rationally infer that a person who pries open a locked door to a garage intends to steal something inside. And the State explained how the fact that nothing was stolen made sense, in light of known facts:

[Ernst] wasn't necessarily expecting to see that truck, the red truck, Jason Wulfekuhle's work truck in that garage. He probably went in there, turned on the light, saw that red truck there, was [not] expecting Mr. Wulfekuhle's personal truck to be there since Mr. Wulfekuhle was at work, and he took off without making a whole lot of other efforts to get into that house some other way because there might be an adult man at home there inside that house that he wasn't expecting. Popped open the door, walked in, oops, there's a truck, took off. That's how you have entry, and that's how you have intent. And the circumstantial evidence is overwhelming for that.

TrialTr.V4 15:3–17. The jury could rationally conclude that Ernst pried the door open as part of an attempt to enter the garage with the intent to commit a theft inside—but then saw the truck, determined that somebody might be home, and fled. This explained the timeline established by the security camera footage of Ernst's vehicle—he left relatively soon after arriving, and departed at a greater speed. *See* TrialTr.V2 19:3–22:14; State's Ex. 29. Ernst was not at work, was not at court until the afternoon, and his alibi witnesses were not credible. His recorded denials were undermined by convincing evidence that his car was a perfect match for the unexpected visitor to McCabe Lane. *Compare* State's Ex. 15; ExApp. 11, *with* State's Ex. 28; ExApp. 23. The circumstantial evidence is conclusive, and Ernst's challenges to the sufficiency and weight of the evidence cannot succeed.

D. Ernst's weight-of-the-evidence challenge is not adequately briefed, and would be meritless.

"Unlike the sufficiency-of-the-evidence analysis, the weight-of-the-evidence analysis is much broader in that it involves questions of credibility and refers to a determination that more credible evidence supports one side than the other." *See Nitcher*, 720 N.W.2d at 559.

Moreover, "[o]n a weight-of-the-evidence claim, appellate review is limited to a review of the exercise of discretion by the trial court, not

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